2001

Zions First National Bank v. M-S Commodities, INC. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff and third party plaintiff-respondent, Zions First National Bank ("Zions") for recovery against the defendant-respondents on an overdrawn account and on signatures, endorsements and warranties on two returned checks. Defendant-respondent, M-S Commodities, Inc. ("M-S") asserted a coun-

terclaim on a wire transfer of \$25,000 by it to Zions, claiming that Zions had failed to disburse said funds in accordance with instructions given to it by M-S. Zions joined third-party defendant-appellant, Clark Tank Lines Company ("Clark") on a third party complaint alleging that Clark had wrongfully diverted the proceeds of the said wire transfer to its own use.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After a five-day trial of the case beginning October 15, 1973, the District Court of the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment on January 17, 1974, awarding Zions' judgment against M-S in the sum of \$38,505.08 (plus interest and costs) on the overdrawn account. In addition, the court awarded Zions personal judgments against Maurie Schneider ("Schneider") and J. Moroni Stoof ("Stoof") in the amount of the overdraft (\$38,505.08, plus interest and costs) for having caused the overdraft by, in Schneider's case, wrongfully transferring \$75,000 out of the M-S account at Zions and, in Stoof's case, by having deposited two bad checks to the said account against which Zions extended credit in transferring the \$75,000. The court also awarded Zions judgment against Dal-Ron Enterprises, Inc. in the sum of \$34,725.50 (plus interest and costs) on one of the returned checks. The trial court further awarded M-S judgment on its counterclaim against Zions in the sum of \$25,000 (plus interest and costs) and in favor of Zions on its third party complaint against Clark in the same

amount. The court dismissed Zions' claims against Priscilla Secrest, Edward Dallin Bagley and M-S Commodities, Inc. of Utah.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Third party defendant-appellant, Clark seeks reversal of that part of the judgment of the lower court awarding M-S judgment on its counterclaim against Zions and awarding Zions judgment on its third part complaint against Clark.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a Utah corporation and a licensed interstate carrier of certain commodities.

Defendant-Respondent M-S is an Illinois corporation which operated a commodities futures brokerage business having its principal office in Chicago, Illinois. It also maintained branch offices in other cities including, from approximately November, 1970 through early 1972, Salt Lake City. It is no longer doing business. (R. 649, 818, 1084; A. 7-8, 55, 233.)¹

At all times pertinent herein, defendant-respondent Maurie Schneider was President, a director and principal stockholder of M-S. He had been a commodity futures broker for 22 years. (R. 851; A. 13.)

At all times pertinent herein, defendant-respondent

¹The letters "R" and "A" refer to the Record in Appeal and the Abstract, respectively.

J. Moroni Stoof was an agent of and a solicitor for M-S at its Salt Lake City office and served as the office manager of said office from the time it was opened in November, 1970. (R. 570, 649, 1084, 1131; A. 55, 88, 217, 233.) He was "in charge" of the Salt Lake office (R. 838, A. 12), having authority, *inter alia*, to hire and fire employees and salesmen, to arrange advertising and to lease space and equipment for the business. (R. 898-99; A. 25-27.)² In addition, Stoof was at all pertinent times President, a director and stockholder of Dal-Ron Enterprises ("Dal-Ron"). (R. 571, 649, 1086; A. 58, 218, 233.) Prior to the opening of the local M-S office Stoof had been employed by Clark Tank Lines as its controller and he continued to work for Clark Tank Lines on a part-time basis after becoming an agent for M-S in November, 1970, until about March 16, 1971. (R. 803, 1130; A. 7, 88).

Bagley also was at all pertinent times a solicitor for and agent of M-S at its Salt Lake City office. (R. 649, 904-08, 1033; A. 30-33, 45, 233.) Operating under Dal-Ron, a now defunct Utah corporation, organized by them in the fall of 1970, he and Stoof acted as commodity brokers for various customers trading in commodities futures contracts through said office as well as trading for their own account. (R. 1033, 1085-86; A. 45, 57-58.) Stoof,

²The Trial Court found that Stoof was co-manager of the Salt Lake office with Edward Dallin Bagley ("Bagley"). (R649) Bagley testified that he discussed this possibility with M-S but declined to accept it. (R. 1033, A. 44) In any event, Stoof was recognized by employees in the office as the person "in charge." (R. 838, A. 12)

Bagley and their wives were the only directors and stockholders of Dal-Ron. (R. 1171; A. 100.)

Dal-Ron maintained a checking account at the South Davis Security Bank on which Stoof and Bagley were authorized co-signatories. (Exh. 24-P; A. 209.) Although the signature card for this account specified that both signatures were required, both Stoof and Bagley had, in fact, drawn checks on the account by their individual signature which were honored by the drawee bank and their business relationship was such that they "didn't worry about" having two signatures on Dal-Ron checks. (R. 1093; A. 61.) Stoof and Bagley also cashed checks made payable to Dal-Ron upon their individual, single, endorsement. (R. 1113; A. 78.)

In connection with the operation of its Salt Lake office, M-S maintained several bank accounts with Zions, including the "M-S Commodities, Inc. Customers Segregated Fund Account" ("Segregated Fund Account"), with which this appeal is concerned. (R. 569, 755-76; Exh. 4-P; A. 2, 204-05, 217.) This was a depository account for funds of the customers of M-S's Salt Lake City office. The funds of each customer were maintained separate and apart within the account from funds of other customers in accordance with the Commodity Exchange Act, 42 Stat. 998, 49 Stat. 1491, 7 U. S. C. §§1-17. All monies in the account were customer funds and were not funds of M-S Commodities. (R. 754, Exh. 2-P; A. 1, 203.) Stoof was authorized to endorse checks for deposit into the Segregated Fund Account, but no checks could

be drawn against the funds in the account. (R. 570, 794; A. 61, 217.) Funds deposited in the account were transferred between Zions and a similar customers segregated fund account maintained by M-S at the Harris Trust and Savings Bank in Chicago, Illinois ("Harris Trust"). Maurie Schneider and Priscilla Secrest (Vice President of M-S) and other M-S employees in Chicago were authorized to withdraw and transfer funds from and between these two accounts. (R. 650-51, 988-89; A. 42-43, 234-35.) In addition, Stoof and Bagley were authorized to request the M-S Chicago office to transfer funds from Harris Trust to Zions for account customers. (R. 909; A. 34.)

The events with which this appeal is concerned occurred principally on Monday, March 15, 1971. On the morning of that day, Stoof endorsed and deposited into the Segregated Fund Account for Dal-Ron a check for \$34, 725.50 payable to M-S drawn on insufficient funds by him alone as President of Dal-Ron on the Dal-Ron account at South Davis Security Bank. (R. 651, 1092; A. 60, 235.) Later the same morning Stoof telephoned Schneider in Chicago and requested that \$25,000 be transferred to Zions from the segregated fund account of Dal-Ron Enterprises at Harris Trust. Stoof told Schneider that \$34,725.50 had been deposited into the Segregated Fund Account for Dal-Ron that morning which, together with Dal-Ron funds already on hand at Harris Trust and sales commissions due from M-S to Stoof, would provide ample funds for the transfer, even

after deducting \$9,000 for a margin call on the Dal-Ron account that morning. (R. 854-57, 110-11; A. 13-16, 75-76.) During the same morning, Betty Lou Curtis, Stoof's secretary at the Salt Lake M-S office, also called the M-S Chicago office several times requesting that the \$25,000 be transferred to Zions. (R. 1279-80, 1282; A. 147-48, 150-51.) After seeing a wire photo of the deposit slip, Schneider directed the M-S bookkeeper, Bruce Bochner, to transfer the funds from the Dal-Ron account at Harris Trust in Chicago to Zions. (R. 653, 857; A. 16-17, 237.) This transfer was effected by means of an Advice of Credit from Harris Trust to Zions in the sum of \$25,000, bearing the notation "for credit of Dal-Ron Enterprises." (Exh. 54-DMS; A. 214.)

The Trial Court found that Schneider transferred the funds at Stoof's request for him to use to buy out Bagley's stock and interest in Dal-Ron, that the \$25,000 transfer represented the difference between the \$9,000 margin call on the Dal-Ron account and the \$34,725.50 Dal-Ron check deposited earlier in the morning of March 15th, that Stoof made the deposit intending to try to get the \$25,000 sent back to him to use for his own purpose and that the \$25,000 was a return to Dal-Ron of funds deposited on behalf of Dal-Ron. (R. 652-53; A. 236-37.) Of particular significance to this appeal is the trial court's further finding that the \$25,000 so transferred on March 15, 1971, did not belong to Stoof personally, but were funds which belonged to Dal-Ron. (R. 653, 658; A. 237, 242.)

On March 15, 1971, none of the officers or employees of Clark Tank Lines (except Stoof) knew that Stoof had been embezzling funds from Clark. (R. 807, 1116-18, 1127-28, 1177, 1305; A. 7, 79-80, 86, 104.)³ On that day, however, Craig Maddux, a Clark employee, knew that Stoof owed Clark \$50,000, which Stoof had obtained from Clark about a week before.⁴ Maddux's actions on March 15, 1971, were directed toward obtaining payment of this obligation. (R. 1293-94, 1338-39; A. 160, 192.)

Around 10:00 a.m. on the morning of March 15, 1971, Stoof telephoned Maddux and told him he had \$25,000

³This fact was first revealed to Clark's President, Boyce R. Clark, On March 17, 1971, following Stoof's confession to his church leaders on the evening of March 16, 1971. (R. 1115-18; A. 79-80)

⁴The details of this transaction, which is only pertinent to this case to show Clark's bona fide right to receive the \$25,000 on March 15, 1971, are as follows: On or about March 8, 1971, Stoof had obtained \$50,000 of Clark funds by representing to Maddux, Clark's office manager, who had worked under Stoof's supervision both before and after Stoof became M-S's local office manager (R. 1131, 1174, 1299-1300; A. 89, 102-03, 166) that he (Stoof) was going to make a temporary personal loan of \$50,000 to Clark to use in paying a Clark indebtedness in that amount owed to American National Bank. He told Maddux he would take his personal check for \$50,000 to American National and instructed Maddux to issue to him a Clark check in the same amount which he would hold for several days until Clark had funds to cover it. Several days later, on or about March 10th, he informed Maddux that the American National Bank had refused to accept his personal check in payment for the Clark obligation and instructed Maddux to purchase for Clark a \$50,000 cashier's check from Walker Bank and take it to American National, which Maddux did. During the conversation, Stoof told Maddux he would come to Clark later the same day and return the \$50,000 previously given to him, which he failed to do. Between March 10th and March 15th, Stoof telephoned Maddux several times and told him he would be in to re-pay the \$50,000, each time failing to do so. (R. 1289-92; A 157-60)

coming from Chicago which would repay half of the \$50,000 indebtedness. Stoof instructed Maddux to go to Zions and pick up a cashier's check made payable to Clearfield State Bank and to deposit it to the Clark Tank Lines account at that bank, this being the normal way transfers of funds were handled between Clark's bank accounts. (R. 1294; A. 161.)

Either before or just after talking to Maddux, Stoof telephoned Zions and spoke to Karen Christensen, a bank employee assigned to its wire transfer desk. (R. 1124, 1172-73, 1195-96; A. 83, 101, 115.) Christensen had met Stoof previously and knew he was the Salt Lake representative for M-S and was also connected with the Dal-Ron account. She recognized his voice. (R. 653, 1196, 1203-04; A. 115, 122-23, 237.) Stoof instructed her that the funds coming from Chicago were to be disbursed in the form of a cashier's check made payable to Clearfield State Bank and authorized her to deliver this check to Maddux. (R. 653, 1125, 1137-38, 1156, 1196; A. 83-84, 93-94, 96, 115, 237.) During the same morning, Christensen also spoke by telephone with Stoof's secretary at the M-S office, Betty Lou Curtis, who also informed Christensen that the check representing the funds was to be made payable to Clearfield State Bank. (R. 1125, 1279-80; A. 83, 148.)

Maddux arrived at Zions approximately 15 to 30 minutes after receiving Stoof's telephone call (R. 1324; A. 184), went to the bank's wire transfer desk and told them he had been sent by Stoof to pick up the funds.

After being informed that the funds had not yet arrived he stated that he was going to talk to Stoof and left. (R. 1200, 1318-19; A. 119, 178-79.) Maddux then went to the M-S Commodities Salt Lake office where he waited during the noon hour until word was received from Zions that the funds had arrived. (R. 1295-96; A. 162-63.) While he was waiting at the M-S office, a telephone call from the Zions wire transfer desk was received by Stoof's secretary, Betty Lou Curtis, inquiring about the identity of the person who had stopped at the bank to pick up the funds. Curtis informed the person calling that it was "Craig Maddux," identifying him as an employee of Clark Tank Lines,⁵ and then passed the tele-

⁵The testimony is somewhat conflicting concerning how Maddux was identified to Christensen and the Trial Court made no factual finding on the matter. Christensen claimed that she never knew Maddux was a Clark Tank Lines employee and he was not identified to her as such. (R. 1198, 1202; A. 117-18, 121) She stated that Stoof told her a representative of Clearfield State Bank would pick up the check (R. 1198-99; A. 118) and that when Maddux first arrived at her desk he told her he had "come down from Clearfield" to pick up the funds. (R. 1199; A. 119) She also said that during Maddux's first or return visit she asked him to provide identification from Clearfield State Bank which he did not do, giving her his driver's license verifying that he was Craig Maddux. (R. 1197; A. 116-17) She specifically admitted that Maddux did not tell her he was from Clearfield State Bank. (R. 1197-98; A. 117) Stoof testified that he told Christensen the funds would be picked up by a representative of Clark Tank Lines and that he believed he gave her Maddux's name. (R. 1124, 1137-38; A. 83-84, 93-94) Betty Curtis testified that in her telephone conversation with Christensen around noon on March 15th, while Maddux was in the M-S office she told Christensen that the man Christensen had described to her was Craig Maddux and that he was employed at Clark Tank Lines. (R. 1280-81; A. 149) Maddux denied telling Christensen he was from Clearfield at any time and stated that Christensen's only request to him was that he identify himself as Craig Maddux, which he did by producing his driver's license. (R. 1297, 1319; A. 164, 179). He testified that Christensen

phone to Stoof who handled the call from thereon. (R. 1281-82; A. 149-51.)

Maddux returned to Zions at about 1:00 p.m. to pick up the funds which had arrived from Harris Trust under an Advice of Credit bearing the notation "For Credit of Dal-Ron Enterprises". (R. 1200, 1296, Exh. 54-DMS; A. 119, 163, 214.) Christensen prepared Cashier's Check No. L24055 for \$25,000 payable to Clearfield State Bank (Exhibit 52-DMS; A. 212) and gave it to Maddux, attached to which was a stub bearing the notation:

Funds wired for the Dal-Ron Enterprises [sic]
March 15, 1971 \$25,000 kc Mar transfer from
Harris Trust in Chicago.

(R. 1201-02, 1297-98; Exh. 53-DMS; A. 120-121, 164-65, 213.) While she was making up the check, Maddux repeated the instruction that it be payable to Clearfield State Bank. (R. 1195, 1296; A. 115, 163.) Maddux then took the check to Clearfield State Bank and deposited it, along with other funds, to Clark's account at that bank. (R. 1294-95; A. 161-162.) Prior to making that deposit, Maddux read the notation on the stub attached to the check, but assumed it was merely a bank notation concerning the source of the funds. (R. 1298, 1322; A. 165, 182.) The check was endorsed by Clearfield State Bank over to Clark and credited to the Clark account.

was preparing the check at the time of his return visit and that she asked him for the name of the payee, to which he replied "Clearfield State Bank", this being his only reference to that bank. (R. 1296, 1320; A. 163, 180-81)

Clearfield had never claimed any right to or interest in the check or its proceeds. (R. 1294-95; Exh. 52-DMS; A. 162, 212.)

Subsequent events occurring during the period March 16 through March 18, 1971 resulted in the confession by Stoof of his embezzlements from Clark, the visit of Maurie Schneider to Salt Lake City for the purpose of closing out commodity trading accounts of customers of the local M-S office and Schneider's transfer of \$75,000 to Chicago out of the Segregated Fund Account on March 18, 1971, which, when two checks previously drawn and deposited therein by Stoof^e were returned unpaid, resulted in that account becoming overdrawn in the sum of \$38,505.08. Zions filed suit in this action to recover on this overdraft. The trial court found that Schneider had wrongfully arranged the \$75,000 transfer knowing or having reason to know that the \$34,725.50 check was no good and that there would be insufficient funds to cover the transfer. (R. 657, 659; A. 241, 243) Accordingly, the trial court entered judgment in favor of Zions against Schneider personally for the amount of the overdraft along with judgments in the same amount against M-S and Stoof. These judgments are not challenged by this appeal.

Following the trial, Clark filed its Alternative Motions for a New Trial or to Amend Findings and Conclusions or to Alter and Amend Judgment. (R. 664; A. 248)

^eThe aforementioned Dal-Ron check for \$34,725.50 and a check for \$20,000 drawn by Stoof on his personal account at Clearfield State Bank.

After the entry in the minutes of the Trial Court's Order denying a new trial and the Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment,⁷ Clark timely filed its Notice of Appeal⁸ appealing to this Court from the portions of the trial court's judgment reading as follows:

1. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that defendant M-S Commodities, Inc. is awarded judgment on its counterclaim against plaintiff Zions First National Bank in the amount of \$25,000.00, plus interest and costs.

2. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that third party plaintiff, Zions First National Bank, is awarded judgment against third party defendant Clark Tank Lines in the amount of \$25,000.00 plus interest and costs.

ARGUMENT

A. *Appeal from Judgment of Trial Court Awarding M-S Commodities Judgment on its Counterclaim Against Zions in the Sum of \$25,000*

At the close of M-S's evidence on its counterclaim Zions and Clark Tank Lines moved for dismissal thereof for insufficiency of proof, including M-S's failure to prove damages or its standing to maintain the counterclaim. (R. 1263; A. 141) These Motions were taken under ad-

⁷The Trial Court granted, in part, Clark's Motion to Amend Findings and Conclusions.

⁸R. 701-03; A. 251-53.

visement and the Trial Court subsequently entered judgment for M-S on the counterclaim for \$25,000 based upon its conclusion, that:

Plaintiff Zions First National Bank was *negligent* in releasing the \$25,000 wire transfer of March 15, 1971, which had been sent for the credit of Dal-Ron Enterprises to representatives of Clark Tank Lines, by check made payable to the Clearfield State Bank, and M-S Commodities is entitled to a judgment of \$25,000 as an offset to its liability to Zions First National Bank. R. 659-60; A. 243-44) [Emphasis supplied.]

The sole basis asserted by M-S Commodities for recovery on its counterclaim was that it had transferred the \$25,000 for the "credit" of Dal-Ron and Zions had failed to follow this instruction in releasing the funds to Craig Maddux. During the trial, M-S expressly withdrew any claim on its counterclaim based upon fraud.

MR. MESERVY:

* * *

In the circumstances, I feel that goes to my question of the fraud angle of my counterclaim; that is, that the \$25,000 was obtained by fraud and therefore with no title passed. I feel at this point I am unable to prove that and it would probably shorten the trial if I conceded that point and proceeded on my counterclaim only on the basis of the strict liability of the bank as our agent and having received these funds and failed to disburse them per our instruction and we are entitled to have them back from the bank. (R. 1242; A. 133)

To sustain this claim, M-S was required to prove each of the following elements by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) a specific instruction from it to Zions; (2) failure by Zions to use the applicable standard of care in carrying out such instruction; (3) damage to M-S proximately caused by such failure by Zions.

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