2001

# Zions First National Bank v. M-S Commodities INC. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST CLARK TANK LINES AND IN FAVOR OF ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

- A. The Lower Court Correctly Found that the \$25,000.00 was Improperly Diverted to Clark Tank Lines Through Actions of Stoof and Maddux Who Were at the Time Employees of Clark Tank Lines.

In its brief, appellant Clark Tank Lines repeatedly overlooks the importance attached by the lower court to the salient fact that J. Moroni Stoof at *all* pertinent times was the *controller* of Clark Tank Lines and Craig

Maddux the *office manager*. (R. 1125, 1130, 1174, 1286-88; A. 80, 87-8, 154-56.) To bootstrap its theory of the case into some semblance of plausibility, appellant makes the bold conclusion that when Stoof sought the transfer of the \$25,000.00 for the purpose of paying his personal indebtedness, he was acting at all times in the capacity of an agent for M-S or Dal-Ron. (Appellant's brief, pp. 31-32, 38, 41-42.) The appellant fails to recognize what the Court *found*, i.e., that Stoof and Maddux in the circumstances revolving around the \$25,000.00 were acting in the interest of Stoof and *Clark Tank Lines*. (R. 658; A. 242.)

Judge Croft clearly perceived the fact that Stoof played many roles on behalf of different parties. In delivering his ruling, he stated:

At the outset, I think we have an unusual situation here that seldom appears in a case in that we have *Moroni Stoof as a party defendant who wears several hats*. First of all, he is here as an individual defendant. He is here as an officer and stockholder in Dal-Ron Enterprises. He is here as a solicitor and I think an agent and employee of M-S Commodities, because certainly some of the duties he performed in the office were employee-type of activities on behalf of M-S Commodities. He is here as an independent, I think, dealer through his wife's name, probably, in the commodity market. *He is here as a controller of Clark Tank Lines and my decision in this case with respect to the various issues, I think, will be such as to indicate to you, as I intend to do, that I think I must take into*

*consideration his various roles that he plays in these activities in those various capacities.* (R. 1337; A. 191 — Emphasis added.)

The lower court placed great significance upon the many roles of J. Moroni Stoof, and expressly based his findings and conclusions upon a determination as to the particular role or “that” Stoof was in at a particular time.

The facts and findings do not support appellant’s tortured attempt to suggest Stoof was at all important times acting for Dal-Ron or M-S, but never Clark. At page 41 of its brief, appellant flatly asserts “. . . that in directing Zions to make the cashier’s check payable to Clearfield and to give it to Maddux, he (Stoof) was acting as M-S’s agent and/or as Dal-Ron’s President, and not as Clark’s employee.” That statement is contrary to the express finding of the trial court, which is based upon ample evidence. The lower court rejected the contention that at the time Stoof was acting for M-S or Dal-Ron, and in the Findings of Fact expressly *found* just the opposite:

4. From at least January 1, 1971, until at least through March 15, 1971, defendant J. Moroni Stoof was the *Controller* for Clark Tank Lines and an employee thereof.

5. From at least January 1, 1971, until at least through March 15, 1971, *Craig Maddux was an employee of Clark Tank Lines* and assisted J. Moroni Stoof in Stoof’s duties as Controller of

said company. (R. 649; A. 233 — Emphasis added.)

\* \* \*

19. *Prior to March 15, 1971, Craig Maddux had knowledge of certain check writing activities of J. Moroni Stoof involving Clark Tank Lines.* Prior to March 15, 1971, J. Moroni Stoof had obtained from Clark Tank Lines' bank account \$50,000.00 for his own use by means of a check written to him by Maddux on direction of Stoof and by reason thereof. J. Moroni Stoof needed to secure money for deposit on March 15, 1971, to an account of Clark Tank Lines at Clearfield State Bank. Craig Maddux knew of the necessity for a deposit of money in said Clark Tank Lines account on March 15, 1971, and Maddux was informed by J. Moroni Stoof that \$25,000 was to be wire transferred to Salt Lake City to meet the aforesaid needs and which money Mr. Stoof would then direct to the custody of *Craig Maddux for deposit in the account of Clark Tank Lines at Clearfield State Bank.* (R. 651; A. 235 — Emphasis added.)

\* \* \*

42. The said \$25,000 was deposited by Craig Maddux into the account of Clark Tank Lines, and helped Mr. Maddux achieve a partial return to Clark Tank Lines of \$50,000 which Stoof had obtained from Maddux, drawn on the Clark Tank Lines account a few days before. (R. 658; A. 242.)

\* \* \*

44. *J. Moroni Stoof and Craig Maddux were acting together on behalf of Clark Tank Lines in obtaining the said \$25,000 from Zions*

*First National Bank as aforesaid.* (R. 658; A. 242 — Emphasis added.)

Findings of Fact on this issue could not be clearer. After hearing evidence for four days, and clearly understanding the significance of the fact that Stoof wore many official “hats,” the lower court consciously and specifically rejected the major thrust of appellant’s argument, i.e., that Stoof was acting for M-S or Dal-Ron instead of Clark when involved in directing the transfer of the \$25,000.00.

A review of the evidence makes it clear why the Court so found. As set forth, *infra*, the real reason Stoof wanted the \$25,000.00 was to cover a personal debt with Clark, and Maddux of Clark (Maddux had no employee relationship with M-S or Dal-Ron) was privy at all pertinent times to this need. Stoof, as controller for Clark, of course, knew of the debt to his employer; he was motivated in his role of controller of Clark to cover a debt to said company, not M-S; and the best evidence is that the \$25,000.00 in fact did go to Clark Tank Lines through the concerted and planned actions of Stoof and Maddux.

In its brief at page 19, appellant recognizes the fundamental principle that a trial court’s findings are presumed correct unless the evidence clearly shows otherwise. *DeWitt Distribution, Inc. v. Bond Furniture, Inc.*, Sup. Ct. No. 13625 (Utah, Oct. 21, 1974); *Buchanan v. Crites*, 106 Utah 428, 150 P. 2d 100 (1944). Based upon the evidence in the record, appellant has failed to demonstrate why it was not reasonable for the lower court



to *find* as it did. Clearly, the findings of the lower court should not be disturbed in that Stoof and Maddux were acting as Clark employees in the pertinent circumstances surrounding the \$25,000.00 wire transfer.

B. Clark Tank Lines Obtained the \$25,000.00 to Help Cover a \$50,000.00 Debt, and was Unjustly Benefits Thereby.

As referred to *supra*, the \$25,000.00 was obtained to cover part of Stoof's \$50,000.00 debt to Clark. Clark received the said \$25,000.00, and the court found that it unjustly benefited thereby. (R. 658; A. 242.) As appellant recognizes in its brief (p. 25), a corporation acts through its agents and employees and certainly, as the lower court found, this is applicable to Clark because of controller Stoof wearing his Clark "hat" in concert with Clark's office manager Maddux. *Stratton v. West States Construction*, 21 Utah 2d 60, 440 P. 2d 117 (1968); 19 C. J. S. *Corporations*, § 999.

A careful review of the evidence makes it patently clear that the activities of Stoof and Maddux were geared to getting the money into Clark's bank account.<sup>2</sup> By any stretch of imagination, these actions could hardly

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant in its own Statement of Facts recognizes this in pointing out that "Maddux's actions on March 15, 1971, *were directed toward payment of this* (Stoof's) obligation." (Appellant brief, p. 8.) (Emphasis added.) One can easily understand this for as discussed, *infra*, Maddux played a prime role in the rather unusual circumstances surrounding the creation of Stoof's \$50,000.00 debt to Clark.

be imputed as of benefit to M-S or Dal-Ron, but only to Stoof, Maddux and Clark.

Maddux was involved from the beginning in the events creating Stoof's indebtedness to Clark. Maddux knew that Stoof was taking a Clark Tank Lines' check for his (Stoof's) use, and then taking the most curious step of supposedly writing a *personal* check to cover it. Maddux testified unequivocally that he *knew* on the day of the \$25,000.00 wire transfer (March 15) that Stoof owed \$50,000.00 to Clark. (R. 1294; A. 161.) Evidence was also adduced that Maddux knew of Stoof's "float" or "kiting" activities with Clark funds. Maddux testified that with respect to picking up the \$25,000.00 and depositing it in the Clark bank account at Clearfield, that he did so pursuant to Stoof's directions. (R. 1294; A. 161.) Thus, the court found that Maddux assisted Stoof in making a partial return of the \$50,000.00 to Clark:

42. . . . helped Mr. Maddux achieve a partial return to Clark Tank Lines of \$50,000 which Stoof had obtained from Maddux, drawn on the Clark Tank Lines account a few days before. (R. 658; A. 242.)

The \$25,000.00 deposited at Clearfield State Bank was "suspended" in such a manner as to inure to the direct benefit and use of Clark Tank Lines. Stoof certainly did not know how to "suspense" the funds at Clearfield State Bank in a Clark bank account from his employment with M-S or his association with Dal-Ron. (R. 1134.) He gleaned this information wearing the "hat"

of controller for Clark Tank Lines. His directing the \$25,000.00 to Clark did not benefit M-S or Dal-Ron, but only Stoof and Clark. The evidence overwhelmingly supports the trial court's finding that as to the \$25,000.00, Stoof and Maddux were working as employees or agents of Clark.<sup>3</sup> As emphasized by appellant in its brief, if all parties are innocent, the one placing the agent must absorb the consequences of that agent's activities. (Appellant's brief, p. 26; Restatement, Agency 2d § 8.)

The court correctly concluded that Clark was liable to Zions for the improper diversion of the \$25,000.00 *because* of the acts of its (Clark) agents *found* by the Court to *then* be acting as agents for Clark. Words of the Court in ruling at the conclusion of the evidence summarize the matter well:

I think that the Zions Bank is entitled to a judgment against Clark Tank Lines on its Third Party Complaint in the sum of \$25,000; and in regard to that, it seems to me that if *two employees of Clark* can do what Stoof did — and incidentally, and carried along with Stoof, Mad-

---

<sup>3</sup> Repeatedly throughout its brief, appellant makes the same false assumption that Stoof was acting at certain material times for M-S, and not Clark. For example, appellant argues at p. 32 of its brief that “. . . M-S is responsible for their (Stoof and secretary Curtis) acts even though they may have been acting fraudulently. . . .” (Restatement, Agency, § 261 and 262; C. J. S. Agency, § 267.) The law of agency on this point is not really in dispute. It is a question of fact. The trial court perceived *factually* that the diversion of the \$25,000.00 was by Stoof and Maddux acting at the time as *agents* of Clark to cover an embarrassing debt and a factual finding is not to be disturbed unless such is without evidence. The trial court just didn't agree on factual findings with Clark's counsel.

dux — and get the benefit of Stoof's fraud at the expense of the bank or M-S Commodities, it seems to me a miscarriage of justice. *It was Clark Tank Lines' employee that caused all of this mess and it, least of all, should benefit by that \$25,000 transaction.* (R. 1350; A. 201-202 — Emphasis added.)

C. The Judgment is Proper Upon Principles of Fairness and Equity as the \$25,000 Never Belonged to Clark in the First Place.

Appellant does not dispute the fact that the \$25,000.00 in question came from an account of M-S in Chicago. While the issue of whether the money belonged to M-S or to Dal-Ron, may be in dispute, there is not a *scintilla* of evidence that the \$25,000.00 *ever* belonged to Clark Tank Lines prior to the diversion.

This is not a case where something goes full circle, i.e., money once with Clark goes back. An employee of Clark got into financial difficulties with his employer and attempted to remedy it, with the assistance of a fellow employee, at the expense of someone else. The funds were diverted from third party sources to help solve an internal financial problem of Clark Tank Lines. From the standpoint of equity and fairness, there is *no* basis for Clark to have the \$25,000.00. Its internal management problems should not be foisted on third parties, and the lower court was absolutely correct in stating that Clark "*least of all*" was entitled to the \$25,000.00. (*Supra*, R. 1350; A. 201-202.)

## POINT II.

THE COUNTERCLAIM JUDGMENT FOR \$25,000.00 IN FAVOR OF M-S COMMODITIES AGAINST ZIONS BANK WITH A THIRD PARTY JUDGMENT AGAINST CLARK TANK LINES, SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.

A. There is Substantial Evidence to Sustain the Judgment in Favor of M-S Commodities on its \$25,000.00 Counterclaim, by Reason of the Interest M-S Had in the Said \$25,000.00.

1. There was not \$25,000.00 in the Dal-Ron account with M-S for the wire transfer.

Appellant argues at pages 20-22 of its brief that there were sufficient funds in the account of Dal-Ron with M-S in Chicago to transfer \$25,000.00 *without* considering the \$34,725.50 bad check deposited by Stoof. Therefore, goes the argument, there was no damage to M-S, but only to Dal-Ron.

A more careful review of the record discloses the faulty premise of this argument. Appellant admits at page 20 of its brief that Exhibit 58-DC (A. 215) shows \$18,557.50 in the Dal-Ron account on March 15, 1971, the day of the transfer. There is *no* evidence that Dal-Ron had anything in an equity account. Before the wire

transfer of the \$25,000.00, however, it is undisputed that there was a margin call of approximately \$9,000.00 on Dal-Ron. (R. 625, 865, 1106-7; A. 236.) The court found that both Stoof and M-S knew about this margin call. (R. 652, 1106-7; A. 236.) Therefore, with the \$9,000.00 margin call, there was effectively at best on the day of the \$25,000.00 wire transfer \$9,357.50 in the Dal-Ron account. This is far short of the \$25,000.00 and hence there was no justification for sending \$25,000.00 for which by the best posture of things there would be *an account deficit* of \$15,642.50.<sup>4</sup>

2. It was not intended for there to be a net loss of \$25,000.00 from the Dal-Ron account with M-S, but the \$25,000.00 was only intended to be a return on the specific deposit of \$34,725.50.

It is clear from the evidence, whatever amount was in the M-S account, that there would *not* be a *net* effect of reducing the Dal-Ron account by \$25,000.00. If there was meant to be such an effect on Dal-Ron, then the obvious question arises as to why Stoof felt he needed to *first* deposit \$34,725.50 (covering \$25,000.00 plus the

---

<sup>4</sup> The fact that there were not sufficient funds in the Dal-Ron account with M-S was further emphasized in M-S's answers to interrogatories:

"Mr. Schneider advised Mr. Stoof that the Dal-Ron Enterprises account with M-S Commodities, Inc. *did not have* sufficient funds to cover margin calls and the \$25,000.00 which Mr. Stoof was requesting." (R. 611, 861 — Emphasis added.)

remainder for the approximate \$9,000.00 margin call of that day) before the \$25,000.00 was to be transferred. Likewise, Schneider of M-S *insisted* on such a deposit. Therefore, had the \$34,725.50 deposit been good, the Dal-Ron account would *not* have had a reduction of \$25,000.00.

The following finding of the trial court is very relevant:

24. On the morning of March 15, 1971, J. Moroni Stoof talked to Maurie Schneider who was in Chicago, Illinois, on the telephone and requested that \$25,000 from the account of Dal-Ron Enterprises with M-S Commodities, Inc., be wire transferred to Salt Lake City, Utah through Zions First National Bank, Stoof saying Bagley was on a binge and he was going to buy him out. Prior to said transfer, both J. Moroni Stoof and Maurie Schneider were aware that a margin call of approximately \$9,000 *had been made on the account of Dal-Ron Enterprises. Prior to wire transferring the \$25,000, J. Moroni Stoof informed Maurie Schneider that \$34,725.50 had been or would be deposited in the M-S Commodities Segregated Fund Account in Salt Lake City at Zions First National Bank.* Before transferring the \$25,000, Maurie Schneider *requested and saw a wire photo copy of the \$34,725.50 item and a wire photo copy of the deposit slip related to said item.* The \$25,000 to be wire transferred was to represent the difference between the margin call on Dal-Ron Enterprises and the \$34,725.50 check deposited earlier in the morning. *It was to be a return to Dal-Ron Enterprises of funds deposited on behalf of Dal-Ron Enterprises.* The \$25,000 wire transferred on

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